RECEIVED

Jun 29 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2026-000050

Dianne Cromwell as the Guardian Ad Litem for AY,
a minor under the age of Fourteen, Appellant,

v.

The Oaks Horizontal Property Regime, Inc., and
Diamond Management, Inc., Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John E. Parker
John E. Parker, Jr.
PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP
Post Office Box 487
Hampton, SC 29924
Phone: (803) 903-1781
jparker@parkerlawgroupsc.com
jayparker@parkerlawgroupsc.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION

This case asks a simple question: when a jury returns a verdict for the defense, and the only evidence on the central factual dispute is unimpeached testimony pointing against the defendants, what, if anything, supports their side of the scale? The answer here is nothing. And nothing, under South Carolina law, is not enough. Scott Niepmann was bitten on the leg by a dog named Toby in the spring of 2020. Ten minutes later he walked to the management office of The Oaks, a condominium community on Hilton Head Island, and told Marco Sanchez, the onsite superintendent, a man Niepmann saw regularly and considered a friend, exactly what had happened. Niepmann wanted to know if he should be concerned about rabies.

Sanchez looked through his filing cabinet, found no vaccination records on file for the dog, and sent Niepmann to speak with the dog's owners. He wrote nothing down. Niepmann did not testify that he wrote anything down. Sanchez told no one. The dog stayed. Six months later, Toby darted out of his owner's front door and attacked seven-year-old A.Y., who had been playing outside his home a few doors down. A.Y. was knocked down and bitten at least four times, required two trips to the hospital, was pinned down by five people to receive his stitches, developed post-traumatic stress disorder, and has lived with hypertrophic scars and a fear of dogs that continues to this day.

When Appellant Dianne Cromwell brought this action against Respondents The Oaks Horizontal Property Regime, Inc., and its management company, Diamond

Management, Inc., the central factual question was straightforward: did Respondents have notice, before A.Y. was attacked, that Toby had previously bitten a resident in an aggressive manner? Scott Niepmann testified that they did. He told their agent, in their office, directly, in person, within minutes of being bitten. His testimony was unimpeached. It was uncontradicted. Not a single witness was called to dispute it. No prior inconsistent statement was produced. No motive to fabricate was suggested. Niepmann is not a party to this lawsuit and has no financial stake in its outcome.

Respondents nonetheless were able to plant a seed of doubt at the outset of trial. They told the jury during opening statements that Marco Sanchez, Respondent's agent and the one person who could have confirmed or denied Niepmann's account, "will testify" before them, and would tell them he had no "recollection of anyone reporting the Scott Niepmann incident." Respondents challenged the jury to hold them accountable, promising that "everything [we] said here will be supported by evidence that is admitted into this record." Marco Sanchez never testified. During deliberations, the jury sent a note to the circuit court asking whether Sanchez had given a deposition, searching for the testimony they had been promised. There was none. Rather than call their witness, Respondents had planted the substance of Sanchez's supposed denial through opening argument and a single leading question on cross-examination, asking Niepmann whether he would be "surprised to learn that Marco does not recall that conversation." A question is not testimony. An unkept promise is not evidence. The jury was left with Niepmann's account on one side and an evidentiary void on the other.

The jury returned a verdict for the defense.

This Court will now be asked by Respondents to affirm that verdict. Cromwell submits that the thirteenth juror doctrine, correctly applied, does not permit it. The standard of review expresses deference to the circuit court's role as the thirteenth juror: its authority to review a jury's verdict to determine whether it is justified by the evidence. It is not a mechanism by which any verdict, however untethered from the proof, can survive review. Where a party carries its burden of proof with direct, unimpeached testimony from a disinterested witness, and the opposing party responds with no competing, inconsistent evidence whatsoever, the resulting verdict is not the product of a credibility determination. It is the product of a vacuum. And South Carolina law, like the law of every American jurisdiction, does not permit verdicts to be built on nothing.

The arguments that follow demonstrate four grounds for reversal. First, there was no rational basis in the evidentiary record for the jury to decline to credit Niepmann's testimony, and the missing witness who Respondents promised would contradict it only deepens the problem. Second, it was undisputed in this case that notice to Sanchez was, as a matter of agency law, imputed notice to Respondents. Third, Respondents' own corporate representative admitted under oath that the conduct Niepmann described would have triggered their mandatory removal policy, that failure to enforce it after receiving notice "wouldn't have been proper procedure," and that if Sanchez was advised of the incident, the company violated its own rules. Fourth, there is no evidence supporting, or a rational basis for concluding, that

Respondents' conduct did not proximately cause A.Y.'s injuries. A verdict that requires this Court to look away from all of this, the unimpeached testimony, the broken promise, the missing witness, the admitted policy violation, and the entirely foreseeable second attack, is not a verdict the law can sustain.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This case was pled and argued to the jury as a premises liability action seeking damages for Respondents' acts and omissions in failing to remove Toby from The Oaks upon actual notice that he had aggressively bitten Niepmann.

The issues presented are:

1. Actual Notice: Whether the jury's verdict in favor of Respondents on the issue of notice lacks any evidentiary basis, where the only witness with direct knowledge of the prior bite incident testified without contradiction or impeachment that he reported the incident to Respondents.

2. Breach of Standard of Care: Whether the verdict is supportable where Diamond Management's corporate representative admitted that the written policies and procedures of The Oaks required investigation and removal of any dog that exhibited aggressive behavior.

3. Proximate Cause: Whether the jury's verdict in favor of Respondents on the issue of proximate cause lacks any evidentiary basis, and specifically whether the Respondents' foreseeability defense is legally tenable where the evidence established that the same dog had bitten Niepmann on the leg several months prior

to A.Y.'s attack, that Respondents had actual, imputed notice of that prior bite, and that Respondents' own written policies were designed to address exactly this risk.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a civil action for personal injuries sustained by A.Y., then seven years old, when a dog named Toby, owned by residents of a condominium regime administered by Respondents, attacked and bit A.Y. in the common elements of the regime on November 4, 2020. On January 20, 2021, Appellant Dianne Cromwell, A.Y.'s mother, brought this action against Toby's owners, John and Maggie Jolin, alleging negligence in failing to keep Toby under control and away from A.Y. (*See generally* Compl.).

On June 7, 2021, Cromwell added Respondents as defendants to the action, alleging that The Oaks Horizontal Property Regime, Inc. was the owner of the common elements, that Diamond Management, Inc. was an agent of the Oaks and was responsible for property management and enforcement of The Oaks' policies and procedures, that Diamond Management was acting within the course and scope of its agency at the time of the alleged acts and omissions, and that Respondents had breached a duty of care in permitting the Jolins to keep Toby at the Oaks after notice of his aggressive behavior in violation of The Oaks' own policies and procedures, in failing to warn A.Y., and in failing to take precautions to prevent Toby from harming A.Y. or other residents and children, in addition to causes of action for strict liability and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. (*See generally* Am. Compl.). In their answer, Respondents admitted to ownership of the common

elements and that there was a property management agreement between them but denied having any knowledge of the prior incident. (*See generally* Answer). Respondents also raised lack of notice and lack of foreseeability as affirmative defenses.¹ (*Id.* at ¶¶ 31, 34).

The case was tried before a jury over two days, June 25 and 26, 2025. The jury returned a general verdict in favor of Respondents, finding that they were not negligent or that their negligence was not the proximate cause of A.Y.'s injuries. (Verdict Form; Form 4 Order, June 27, 2025). Cromwell filed a motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC on July 5, 2025, arguing that the circuit court was required to grant a new trial under the thirteenth juror doctrine because there was no evidence supporting that Respondents warned of, mitigated, or eliminated the foreseeable risk that Toby would bite someone else in the common elements of The Oaks, there was no evidence controverting Niepmann's unimpeached testimony regarding notice, and there was no evidence controverting the Respondent's internal policy which required the removal of any dog from the property that exhibited any type of aggressive behavior, and would have prevented the serious bites that A.Y. experienced. (Mot. for New Trial; Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for New Trial).

¹ On December 15, 2023, Cromwell voluntarily dismissed John and Maggie Jolin as parties to the action. (Order, Dec. 15, 2023). On June 19, 2025, Cromwell filed a motion to amend the complaint to remove all causes of action against Respondents with the exception of her negligence claim. (Mot. to Amend, June 19, 2025). The motion was granted by the circuit court prior to the commencement of trial. (Trial Tr. p. 103, lines 22 – 25).

On December 10, 2025, the circuit court denied Cromwell’s motion for a new trial. (Order, Dec. 10, 2025). Cromwell filed her notice of appeal on January 8, 2026. (Not. of Appeal).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The thirteenth juror doctrine is a vehicle by which the trial court may grant a new trial absolute when he finds that the evidence does not justify the verdict.” *Folkens v. Hunt*, 300 S.C. 251, 254, 387 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1990). “As the thirteenth juror, the trial judge can hang the jury by refusing to agree to the jury’s otherwise unanimous verdict.” *Lane v. Gilbert Constr. Co.*, 383 S.C. 590, 597, 681 S.E.2d 879, 883 (2009). A trial court’s ruling on a motion for a new trial absolute is reviewed by this Court for abuse of discretion. *Mills v. S.C. State Ports Auth.*, 435 S.C. 213, 230, 865 S.E.2d 910, 918 (Ct. App. 2021). While this standard is deferential, it is not without limits: the denial of a motion for a new trial will be reversed if the trial court’s findings “are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law.” *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 405, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct. App. 1996).

ARGUMENT

Cromwell acknowledges that the burden of proving notice rested with her at trial, and that under a general verdict a jury may find for the defense by concluding that the plaintiff failed to carry that burden. But the burden of proof framework presupposes a rational, evidence grounded basis for doubt. Where a party presents unimpeached, uncontradicted testimony from a disinterested witness on an essential

element, and the opposing party offers nothing, no competing account, no impeachment, no circumstantial basis for skepticism, and inexplicably declines to call the one witness who could speak directly to the issue, the jury's refusal to find the element proven is not a legitimate credibility determination. It is an arbitrary rejection of evidence that South Carolina law will not sustain.

Respondents' own evidence is not only entirely consistent with the theory that Sanchez received the notice and failed to act on it, but at best the only inference favorable to Respondents that can be drawn from the evidence is that Diamond Management's owner had no personal knowledge of the Niepmann incident. To the extent that the jury relied on the absence of documentation of the incident in Respondents' records to find that Niepmann's testimony was not credible, no foundation was ever laid by Respondents explaining why the absence of documentation would tend to disprove that notice was given. In other words, without supporting, contradictory circumstantial evidence, "[t]he absence of evidence is not evidence of absence." *In re Bystolic Antitrust Litig.*, 657 F. Supp. 3d 337, 355 (S.D.N.Y. 2023).

I. Statement of facts.

A. The prior bite and notice to Respondents.

Scott Niepmann has lived at The Oaks for approximately thirty-five years. (Trial Tr. p. 288, lines 2 – 4). In early May 2020, Niepmann was walking on the sidewalk in front of The Oaks when he encountered one of the Jolins' sons walking Toby. (*Id.* at p. 125, line 24 – p. 126, line 6; p. 137, lines 3 – 17). Niepmann testified

that Toby “always barks, he always just acts aggressive towards people.” (*Id.* at p. 279, lines 3 – 4). The dog lunged at Niepmann, was pulled back, lunged again, and then bit him on the leg, tearing a hole in his pants and leaving a puncture wound just above the left knee. (*Id.* at p. 279, lines 4 – 19; p. 137, line 3 – p. 139, line 18; Pl.’s Ex. 5A).

Niepmann’s response was immediate. “I actually walked down to the office,” he testified, where he regularly socialized with Marco Sanchez, The Oaks’ onsite superintendent, and a mutual friend, and “told him what happened.” (Trial Tr. p. 279, line 22 – p. 280, line 3; p. 286, line 16 – p. 287, line 5). This occurred ten minutes after he was bitten by Toby. (*Id.* at p. 284, lines 16 – 19). Niepmann did not want anything to happen to the dog, but he did want to make sure that it was current on its rabies vaccination. (*Id.* at p. 283, lines 12 – 15). In response, Sanchez looked through the filing cabinet for the dog’s vaccination records but did not find any. (*Id.* at p. 280, lines 3 – 5; p. 285, lines 12 – 19). Maggie Jolin has corroborated that Toby’s vaccination records were not on file with Respondents at that time. (*Id.* at p. 261, line 2 – p. 265, line 24).

Sanchez then directed Niepmann to go speak with the dog’s owners. (*Id.* at p. 285, lines 17 – 19). Niepmann saw the Jolins several days later, and when he informed them that he had been bitten by Toby and asked if Toby had his rabies shot, John Jolin denied that it had happened and suggested that Niepmann contact law enforcement. (*Id.* at p. 280, line 22 – p. 281, line 3). Sanchez took no further action. No written report was made, no incident file was created, and nothing was escalated

to Diamond Management’s main office or to The Oaks’ board. (*Id.* at p. 323, lines 11 – 17).

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Niepmann: “Would you be surprised to learn that Marco does not recall that conversation?” Niepmann responded, simply and without hesitation: “Yeah, I would.” (*Id.* at p. 290, lines 16 – 18). No inconsistency was elicited on cross-examination. No motive to fabricate was suggested. Niepmann’s testimony was fully consistent with the testimony of Maggie Jolin and a written statement he gave on November 13, 2020, after A.Y. was bitten. (*Id.* at p. 293, line 21 – p. 294, line 19). Sanchez was not called to testify at trial.

Beaufort County Animal Services Officer A.J. Montgomery responded to the May 2020 incident after being contacted by Niepmann, as suggested by John Jolin. He interviewed Niepmann, photographed the puncture wound, and spoke with the Jolins. (*Id.* at p. 123, line 4 – p. 125, line 22; Pl.’s Ex. 5A). Because Niepmann stated he did not want to pursue the matter further and wanted only to confirm the dog’s rabies vaccination, Montgomery gave the Jolins a verbal warning, stating that if it happened again charges would be filed. (Trial Tr. p. 125, lines 7 – 14). In the following days, Maggie Jolin acquired the vaccination records from her veterinarian, gave a copy to Montgomery, and placed a copy in an inbox in The Oaks’ office for Sanchez. (*Id.* at p. 261, line 2 – p. 265, line 24). She spoke to Sanchez about the vaccination records, but she could not recall at trial the specifics of the conversation. (*Id.*).

B. The November 4, 2020 attack on A.Y.

On November 4, 2020, A.Y., then seven years old, was playing outside his home at The Oaks when John Jolin, walking his other dog Milka, inadvertently allowed Toby to dart out through the front door unleashed. (Trial Tr. p. 127, line 23 – p. 129, line 10; p. 347, line 15 – p. 348, line 16). Toby ran between parked cars and attacked A.Y., knocking him down and biting him on the foot, the side, and the back of the leg. (*Id.* at p. 147, lines 8 – 23; p. 150, line 16 – p. 153, line 12; Pl.’s Ex. 5A). The attack was captured on the property’s surveillance cameras. (Def.’s Ex. 3; Trial Tr. p. 128, line 1 – p. 129, line 10).

Dianne Cromwell, A.Y.’s mother, was at a nearby Publix grocery store when she received a phone call and returned home to find her son bleeding. (*Id.* at p. 147, lines 8 – 21). She took A.Y. to Hilton Head Hospital that day, but he could not immediately receive sutures because of the risk of infection, so his wounds were cleansed and left open, and he was sent home. (*Id.* at p. 147, line 21 – p. 148, line 8). After sleepless nights, Cromwell returned to the hospital on November 6 with A.Y. to have the wounds stitched. (Pl.’s Ex. 10; Pl.’s Ex. 11; Trial Tr. p. 148, line 8 – p. 150, line 15). Because A.Y. had to be physically restrained by five people for the stitching procedure, the experience was traumatic both for him and for his mother. (*Id.*) The wounds resulted in three hypertrophic scars, which are raised, permanent scarring. (*Id.* at p. 150, line 15 – p. 153, line 12; Dr. Brendan Smith Dep. p. 9, lines 2 – 25; p. 11, lines 3 – 4). Medical bills from the two hospital visits, as well as a proposed cost to surgically repair the scars, were introduced into evidence. (Pl.’s Exs. 2, 11, 26).

Following the attack, A.Y. developed post-traumatic stress disorder, which was diagnosed at Coastal Empire Mental Health where he has continued to receive treatment. (Trial Tr. p. 155, line 2 – p. 157, line 6; p. 158, line 13 – p. 160, line 3; p. 165, line 20 – p. 167, line 6; Pl.’s Exs. 20, 21, 22). He has experienced severe sleep disruption, nightmares, bedwetting, and a profound fear of dogs that has persisted through the time of trial. (*Id.*). Before the attack, A.Y. loved animals. Afterwards, he has refused to go near dogs, peeks out windows before going outside, and takes deliberate routes to avoid neighbors’ dogs. (Trial Tr. p. 144, line 12 – p. 145, line 17; p. 161, lines 9 – 19; p. 168, line 3 – p. 169, line 3). A.Y. was evaluated by a plastic surgeon regarding his permanent hypertrophic scarring as it makes him self-conscious, and a surgical revision of the scars will require him to be put under general anesthesia and will cost \$11,035.00. (*Id.* at p. 167, lines 14 – 25; p. 172, line 20 – p. 173, line 6; Dr. Brendan Smith Dep. p. 9, line 14 – p. 10, line 4; Pl.’s Exs. 26, 27).

C. Respondents’ policies and corporate representative testimony.

The Oaks’ rules and regulations were admitted into evidence. (Pls.’ Ex. 18; Defs.’ Ex. 1). Michael Hawanczak, the owner of Diamond Management and The Oaks’ property manager since 2003, testified on behalf of Respondents. (Trial Tr. p. 316, lines 8 – 20). He confirmed that residents were required to register their dogs and provide vaccination records, and that dogs were required to be leashed at all times in common areas. (*Id.* at p. 320, lines 5 – 19). He confirmed that Respondents’ written rules specifically provided that “any canine or other pet that exhibits any kind of aggressive behavior will be required to be removed from the property.” (*Id.* at p. 330,

lines 8 – 13). When asked whether that policy would have required Toby’s removal based on the conduct Niepmann described, Hawanczak initially acknowledged it “quite possibly” would, and ultimately conceded that it would have required removal and that failure to enforce it “wouldn’t have been proper procedure.” (*Id.* at p. 331, line 1 – p. 333, line 7; p. 338, line 4 – p. 339, line 6).

Hawanczak also confirmed the following: (1) Marco Sanchez was the onsite superintendent who handled day-to-day resident matters, while Hawanczak’s main office was off premises in Bluffton Village (*Id.* at p. 317, line 6 – p. 318, line 9; p. 321, lines 9 – 25); (2) Hawanczak and Sanchez communicated between two and seven times per week about The Oaks’ operations (*Id.* at p. 322, lines 1 – 7); (3) Sanchez never told Hawanczak about the Niepmann incident (*Id.* at p. 323, lines 5 – 10); (4) no records of the Niepmann incident existed in Respondents’ files (*Id.* at p. 323, lines 11 – 17); and (5) the surveillance footage of the Niepmann incident was not preserved. (*Id.* at p. 325, lines 2 – 5). Hawanczak never testified that Niepmann did not tell Sanchez of the incident or that Sanchez did not learn of the incident within the office at The Oaks. Hawanczak did not provide any testimony supporting that Sanchez always documented every incident reported by residents and passed it on to Hawanczak, nor did he provide any testimony supporting that it would have been out of character for Sanchez to ignore and fail to document a reported incident of a dog bite. He did not provide any testimony as to what procedures Respondents followed if a resident did not want anything to happen to a dog that bit him. When asked directly whether, if Sanchez had in fact been informed, he would have violated the

rules by failing to act, Hawanczak ultimately agreed “[i]f he was advised.” (*Id.* at p. 339, lines 2 – 5).

After learning of the A.Y. incident, The Oaks’ board convened by email, consulted The Oaks’ regime attorney Rick Haight, and Diamond Management sent a certified letter to the Jolins dated November 10, 2020, six days after the attack, requiring Toby’s removal from the property. (*Id.* at p. 326, line 12 – p. 329, line 14; Defs.’ Ex. 2). Hawanczak’s testimony confirms that he took no comparable action following the prior incident because he was not personally aware that it had occurred. (Trial Tr. p. 323, lines 18 – 21). John Jolin was subsequently cited, fined, and required to register Toby as a dangerous animal with Beaufort County. (*Id.* at p. 129, line 13 – p. 133, line 15).

D. Respondents’ opening promise that Sanchez would testify and its breach.

In opening statements, Respondents told the jury, explicitly and emphatically, that Marco Sanchez would take the stand and deny any recollection of Niepmann’s report. Respondents stated: “The onsite superintendent at the time of this accident, who was employed with Diamond Management, not only did he work onsite, he lived onsite, that’s Marco Sanchez. He will testify that he has no recollection of anyone reporting the Scott Niepmann incident to the HOA, or its management company, and that’s critical.” (*Id.* at p. 110, line 22 – p. 111, line 4). Respondents continued moments later, arguing to the jury that Sanchez would testify under oath, with penalty of perjury, that he had no knowledge and never had any knowledge of the Niepmann

incident. (*Id.* at p. 111, lines 8 – 13). Respondents challenged the jury to hold them accountable:

What [we] ask y'all to do is hold [us] accountable. Mr. Parker made statements, [we] suggest that a lot of them will not be supported by the evidence, [our] statements will. At the conclusion of this trial in [our] closing arguments, [we're] going to ask that you hold [us] accountable. Everything [we] said here will be supported by evidence that is admitted into this record

(*Id.* at p. 112, line 21 – p. 113, line 3).

Marco Sanchez did not testify. He was not called during the defense case, was not called as a rebuttal witness, and was not called at any point during the two-day trial. The jury, which had been specifically told by Respondents that Sanchez would take the stand and deny that he had any notice of the incident, was left with Niepmann's uncontradicted testimony and a conspicuous silence where Sanchez's denial was supposed to be.

E. The jury note and verdict.

During deliberations, the jury sent a note to the circuit court asking: "Did Marco (day manager) give a deposition? If so, is there a record of his statement?" (Trial Tr. p. 434, lines 10 – 16). No deposition of Marco Sanchez had been taken, and the circuit court answered accordingly. (*Id.* at p. 434, line 19 – p. 435, line 19). Shortly thereafter, the jury returned a general verdict finding that Respondents were not negligent, or that their negligence was not the proximate cause of A.Y.'s injuries. (Verdict Form).

II. A jury may not arbitrarily disregard the unimpeached, uncontradicted testimony of a disinterested witness and return a verdict supported by nothing.

Cromwell does not quarrel with the general proposition that credibility determinations belong to the jury. Nor does she dispute that the burden of proving notice rested with her, or that under a general verdict a jury may return a verdict for the defense by concluding simply that the plaintiff failed to carry that burden. These are bedrock principles, and this brief does not ask this Court to disturb them.

What Cromwell does ask this Court to recognize is that the burden of proof framework, properly understood, does not give a jury unlimited license to find an element unproven regardless of the state of the evidence. The framework presupposes that the jury has some rational, evidence-grounded basis for its conclusion when dispositive, unopposed testimony is discredited. There must be some inconsistency, some motive, some competing account, or some circumstantial basis for skepticism. Where there is literally nothing in the record providing any such basis except for the representations of counsel during opening statements, a finding of “not proven” is not the exercise of factfinding prerogative. It is the manufacture of doubt from an evidentiary vacuum. And that, South Carolina law has consistently held, a jury may not do.

In reviewing the denial of a motion for a new trial absolute, the standard of review does not permit the Court to point to any conceivable interpretation of the absence of evidence as a valid ground for affirmance. It requires evidence, something in the record that a rational factfinder could credit as a basis for the verdict returned, and that evidence must support the jury’s rejection of unimpeached, direct testimony. *See Norton v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co.*, 350 S.C. 473, 479, 567 S.E.2d 851, 854 (2002) (“This

Court's review is limited to consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order."). South Carolina courts have consistently found for decades that a verdict cannot rest on "speculation and conjecture," and that the uncontradicted testimony of a credible witness may not be arbitrarily disregarded. *See Hunsucker v. State Highway Dep't*, 182 S.C. 441, 447, 189 S.E. 652, 654 (1937) ("Verdicts cannot rest upon guess or conjecture"); *State v. Cook*, 204 S.C. 295, 300, 28 S.E.2d 842, 844 (1944) (stating that uncontradicted evidence may be disbelieved if it is "contrary to natural or physical laws, opposed to common knowledge, inherently improbable, inconsistent with circumstances in evidence, or somewhat contradictory itself, especially where the witness is a party or interested, or where in the very nature of things, it is impossible to secure opposing testimony."). These two propositions are in direct tension with a verdict that rests solely on the possibility that the jury, for no reason the record supports, simply chose not to believe the only witness with firsthand knowledge of the notice issue.

This Court must distinguish between two very different kinds of credibility determinations. The first, entitled to full appellate deference, is a jury's resolution of a genuine evidentiary dispute: two witnesses describe events differently, cross-examination exposes inconsistency or bias, or the testimony itself is inherently improbable in the face of circumstantial evidence, and the jury decides whom to believe. That is the classic function of a jury. The second, not entitled to deference, is a jury's bare refusal to credit the only evidence offered on a point, without any competing account, any inconsistency, any motive to fabricate, or any circumstantial

basis for skepticism that would counterbalance the scales. The latter is not fact-finding. It is a verdict returned in an evidentiary vacuum.

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