THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2026-000050

RECEIVED
SEP 04 2026
SC Court of Appeals

Dianne Cromwell as the Guardian Ad Litem for AY,
a minor under the age of Fourteen..... Appellant,
v.

The Oaks Horizontal Property Regime, Inc. and
Diamond Management, Inc., Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Michelle N. Endemann (SC Bar #79894)
Isabella H. Hagan (SC Bar #106935)
Clarkson, Walsh & Crudup, P.A.
497 St. Andrews Blvd
Charleston, SC 29407
T: 843.981.5180

Attorneys for Respondents

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Correctly Denied Appellant's Motion for a New Trial where the Jury Verdict was Supported by the Evidence and the verdict should be upheld.

i. Appellant's argument regarding Respondents' Opening Statement is not preserved for appeal.

Appellants attempt to argue that Respondents' opening statement about how the jury will hear from Mr. Sanchez is reason for the Appellate Court to overturn the jury's verdict. Under the rule articulated in State v. Dunbar, an issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review; issues not raised and ruled upon at the trial court level will not be considered on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003). At trial, Appellant did not raise the issue of Respondents opening statement nor request a curative instruction. As such, this argument has been waived. Hendrix v. Eastern Distribution, Inc., 320 S.C. 218, 464 S.E.2d 112 (1995).

If the Court is inclined to evaluate Appellant's argument even though it has not been properly preserved, the Appellant's argument that this opening statement is solely what molded the jury's deliberation still fails. During Respondents' opening statement, Respondents indicated

that Mr. Sanchez would testify that he had no knowledge of the Niepmann incident and that no one reported the incident to either of the Respondents. [Trial Transcript p. 111 lines 8-13]. While Mr. Sanchez did not testify at trial, Mr. Sanchez's supervisor, Michael Hawanczak, testified that he had never been told about the incident with Mr. Niepmann and that neither Respondent had any record of the incident. [Trial Transcript p. 317 line 6 – p. 5; p. 323 lines 5-10]. The Respondents produced this testimony through a different witness. They did not, as Appellant attempts to argue, offer their own opening statement as evidence with no corroboration.

ii. The verdict was supported by evidence showing that the Respondents did not have notice or foreseeability.

The jury had ample evidence to support a verdict finding the Respondents not liable for the Accident. The Appellants attempt to argue that there was no evidence that contradicted Mr. Niepmann's testimony, meaning the jury had to accept his testimony. In fact, the jury saw contradicting evidence of Mr. Niepmann's testimony through both Mr. Montgomery and Mr. Hawanczak. Even if there was no contradictory testimony, the jury is still within their right to come to their own conclusion about Mr. Niepmann's testimony and choose to disregard his statements.

Mr. Niepmann testified that the Jolin's dog bit him several months prior to the incident at issue in this case. [Trial Transcript p. 278 line 16 – p. 279 line 19]. Mr. Niepmann stated he approached Marco Sanchez about the incident but was adamant that he only wanted to know if the dog had his rabies vaccine. [Trial Transcript p. 279 line 20 – p. 280 line 6; Trial Transcript p. 282 line 6-17]. At no point during trial did Mr. Niepmann testify that he wished to report the dog as dangerous. Mr. Niepmann acknowledged that he had drafted no written documentation of the event, nor did he ever follow up with Mr. Sanchez about the incident. [Trial Transcript p. 286 lines 16-22; Trial Transcript p. 290 line 7 – p. 291 line 16].

Conversely, during the trial, Marco Sanchez's supervisor Michael Hawanczak testified that he was "not aware of any prior incident with Scott Niepmann prior to the Cromwell incident." [Trial Transcript p. 323 lines 8-10]. He further testified that there were no written documents which memorialized the incident with Toby and Scott Niepmann nor did Marco inform him of such an incident. [Trial Transcript p. 323 line 11-21]. Mr. Niepmann did not inform him of the incident. Mr. Hawanczak stated that normal practice when being informed of such an incident is to preserve the video footage and start the proper procedures regarding an aggressive dog. [Trial Transcript p. 326 line 16 – p. 327 line 1]. Despite Appellant's allegation that Mr. Sanchez did not keep records or report resident complaints, Mr. Hawanczak testified that it was regular policy to investigate and document the complaint. [Trial Transcript p. 331 line 18 – line 333 p. 7; Trial Transcript p. 326 line 16 – p. 327 line 1].

The Animal Control officer, A.J. Montgomery, stated when Toby bit Mr. Niepmann, it wasn't an attack, it was a "nipping at the front knee." [Trial Transcript p. 123 lines 20-22]. Further, Mr. Niepmann told Mr. Montgomery it was a simple incident and he didn't want anything involved. [Trial Transcript p. 125 lines 9-14]. Therefore, Mr. Montgomery did not write a citation for the Jolin's dog. [Trial Transcript p. 125 lines 7-14].

There are many ways a jury could have interpreted all testimony. While Mr. Niepmann testified he told the Respondents about the incident, Mr. Hawanczak testified that there was no documentation of the incident. Further, Mr. Hawanczak testified that the proper protocol would have been to formally document the incident and attempt to pull any camera footage from The Oaks. Mr. Hawanczak stated, however, that there was no documentation and no one ever spoke to him about the incident. Additionally, Mr. Niepmann testified and Mr. Montgomery confirmed that Mr. Niepmann did not want anything to happen to the dog and that the nip was small. A jury could

have reasonably inferred that no incident was memorialized because Mr. Niepmann himself did not believe this was an “attack” and it did not warrant labeling Toby as a dangerous dog. Therefore, the Respondents would not have been put on any notice for Toby’s “aggressive” behavior.

Even if the testimony of Mr. Niepmann was undisputed by any witness produced by the Respondents, the jury still has the exclusive right to evaluate each witness’ testimony and to determine the weight of such testimony. In State v. Smith, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a jury may believe one witness and disbelieve another, may believe one portion of a witness's testimony and disregard another portion, and that the jury must necessarily pass upon the credibility of witnesses. State v. Smith, 227 S.C. 400, 88 S.E.2d 345 (1955). The court further explained that in doing so, the jury may take into consideration the witnesses' opportunities for observation and knowledge, any prejudice or bias they may have, their demeanor on the stand, and in fact anything which in the jury's good judgment tends to show whether or not witnesses are telling the truth. Id. Similarly, in State v. Brisbon, the South Carolina Supreme Court confirmed that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility and believability of the witnesses who have testified, and that jurors may consider factors such as the witness's demeanor, consistency of testimony, ability to know the facts testified to, and whether the witness had a reason to be biased or prejudiced. State v. Brisbon, 323 S.C. 324, 474 S.E.2d 433 (1996).

Additionally, the South Carolina Supreme Court has explicitly confirmed that a jury is not required to accept uncontradicted witness testimony, as credibility is a question for the jury. Hoard ex rel. Hoard v. Roper Hosp., Inc., 387 S.C. 539, 694 S.E.2d 1 (2010). In Hoard, the court endorsed the principle from Black v. Hodge and Ross v. Paddy that even when testimony stands entirely uncontradicted, the jury retains the prerogative to disbelieve it. Black v. Hodge, 306 S.C. 196, 410 S.E.2d 595 (1991); Ross v. Paddy, 340 S.C. 428, 532 S.E.2d 612 (2000). When testimony is

actually contradicted by another witness, the jury's discretion to resolve that conflict is even more clearly established. Id.

Here, the jury has the absolute power to believe or disbelieve a witness's testimony. While Respondents argue that there was ample testimony to contradict Mr. Niepmann and the Plaintiff's theory of the case, the jury could have chosen to disbelieve Mr. Niepmann without a single contradictory piece of evidence.

Therefore, the jury weighed the probability of the testimony and the credibility of the witnesses, and had not only the right, but good reason, to find that the Respondents had no prior notice of danger and were not liable for the accident.

VII. CONCLUSION

The trial court properly denied Cromwell's Motion for a New Trial and properly found that the jury's verdict was reasonable based on the evidence presented. Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests that the trial court's December 10, 2025 Order denying the Motion for a New Trial be affirmed and that the jury's verdict be upheld.